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The Norwegian Synod assembled for its an-
nual meeting in Lime Creek congregation in 
Winnebago County, Iowa, Pastor H. Ingeb-
ritson’s charge, the of June 14–18,1918. The 
members of Lime Creek congregation live 
partially in Iowa, partially in Minnesota. Un-
der these circumstances, it was especially for-
tunate that the meeting was held at this place. 
Gov. Harding’s proclamation, which forbids 
the use of a foreign language in public places 
and during public meetings in the State of 
Iowa, was issued just a short time before the 
meeting. The basic preparations were made 
for the discussions, especially of doctrine, in 
Norwegian and it would have been a grave 
disappointment for many, especially of the 
older people, if that could not happen. They wanted to speak 
Norwegian during the meeting. But the participants also 
wanted to be good citizens and comply with the governor’s 
proclamation. As a result the congregation rented a large 

The Norwegian-American newspaper Amerika was published weekly in Madison, Wisconsin.  From 1889-1922, Ras-
mus B. Anderson served as the editor.  This newspaper had been sympathetic to the minority within the Norwegian 

Synod and opened its pages to them.  

Following the reorganization of the Norwegian Synod, at Lime Creek, Iowa in 1918, the newspaper published a two-
part report of the convention.  It is printed here in translated form.  

tent for the occasion, 60 feet square, which 
they set up in Minnesota one mile north of 
the church. Here no language prohibition 
hindered the use of Norwegian and the Nor-
wegian language could be used without ap-
pearance of disloyalty. Most of the sessions 
were held here. The congregation’s fine spa-
cious church is located one mile south of the 
state border. Here the congregation also has 
a fine school house with two classrooms and 
a basement. The Lime Creek congregation 
is one of the few Nowegian congregations 
that have worked seriously to actually com-
ply with the admonition of Jesus: “Feed my 
lambs!” For several years it has maintained 
a Norwegian-English school—a Christian 

school for children of the congregation – where God’s word 
is the foundation and the parents actually get help to nour-
ish their children in the nurture and admonition of the Lord. 
May society take an example from this congregation, and let 

By Amerika’s Reporter



Oak Leaves is published by the Evangelical Lutheran 
Synod Historical Society, and appears four times each 
year. This special edition is provided by the Centennial 
Committee of the Evangelical Lutheran Synod as a part 
of the synod’s centennial.

The focus of the anniversary celebration is the founding 
convention of the synod at Lime Creek Lutheran 
church near Lake Mills, Iowa the third week of June, 
1918. The featured article in this anniversary issue 
is a translation of a news report which appeared in 
the Norwegian language newspaper, Amerika (see 
the article in this issue by Craig Ferkenstad). As far 
as we know, this article has never before appeared in 
English and gives a detailed account of the Lime Creek 
meeting. Pastor Ferkenstad secured a copy of the article 
and had it translated.

Some of the back-story is told in the 1944 article by 
Norman A. Madson, who at the time was President of 
the Norwegian Synod. It was written for the periodical 
of the Slovak Synod, at the time also a member of the 
Synodical Conference.

Other background material has appeared in Oak Leaves 
during the past year. In 1917, after the Norwegian 
Synod had voted to merge with two other Norwegian 
immigrant church bodies, a minority who could not 
go into the merger met at the Aberdeen Hotel and 
discussed their future. Their leader was Pastor Bjug 
Harstad, and in 1917, he and some other pastors 
began to publish a small church paper called Luthersk 
Tidende, (Lutheran Tidings). In their paper, the pastors 
and a few laymen discussed their predicament, sorted 
out their intentions, and confessed their faith.
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FROM THE EDITOR



I haven’t watched slides from a slide projector in 
decades, but I can still remember the sound as it cycled 
through one picture after another. The pictures seemed 
so old to me at the time, though the history on display 
was probably just a few decades past. What registers 
as “old” in your mind? A classic car from the 1950s? 
A black and white photo from the early 1900s? A 
gravestone marking a death before the Civil War?

Everything in the past is now history. That makes for a 
lot of history! Even if everything could be preserved, 
not all of it needs to be. I have heard of an effort to 
capture each moment of the internet’s changing content, 
so the information from years past can be accessed for 
years to come. Some of the things preserved would be 
useful, but much of it would not.

The ELS Historical Society was organized in 1997. The 
purpose of its members is not to try to preserve every 
tiny detail of our synod’s history, or simply to reminisce 
about “the good ol’ days.” Nor is its primary purpose to 
emphasize the national origins of the synod’s founders. 
The Historical Society’s purpose is to keep track of the 
major church discussions, activities, and people which 
have brought us from the origin of our church body in 
1853 to today.

The more history our synod puts behind it, the more 

likely important historical details will be lost. This is why 
the Historical Society produces a quarterly periodical 
called Oak Leaves (back issues can be accessed at http://
www.els-history.org/oak-leaves.html). The Society also 
hosts an annual program each June highlighting some 
aspect of our history through presentations, theatrical 
reenactments, or tours of historic places.

The Historical Society works in close connection with the 
ELS Ottesen Museum (check out this page on Facebook) 
and the Synod Archives to help gather and share the 
unique items in their collections. We are always happy 
to field your questions and take a look at personal or 
congregational items that have historical significance for 
the synod.

The ELS Historical Society is not just for those who love 
history or for those who know what words like Opgjør 
mean. It is for everyone who believes that the historical 
and doctrinal heritage of the ELS is worth preserving. To 
learn more about the activities of the Historical Society, go 
to http://www.els-history.org. We hope you will consider 
becoming a member, so that you can more fully appreciate 
our synod’s history of which you are a part.

		  -Peter Faugstad
                            ELS Historical Society Chairman

Some of those articles, no longer accessible to most 
of our pastors and lay-people were translated and 
published in Oak Leaves during the past year. The 
articles help us understand the struggle which led to the 
momentous meeting at Lime Creek in June 1918.

The identity of  “Amerika’s Reporter” is unknown. 
Combing through the list of guests at the meeting, we 
don’t get any clues as to who might have written it. 
We  see no evidence that the editor of Amerika was 
present or who “Amerka’s reporter” was. The writer 
displays a firm grasp of the theological issues and the 
pastors at the meeting. We can speculate that it was one 

of the pastors among the thirteen who are counted as 
the organizers of the synod, with the two most likely 
suspects being Pastors C. N. Petersen (who had been 
asked by Anderson to be Religion editor) and John A. 
Moldstad (who was listed as an assistant editor). But 
that remains speculation.

			     -Erling T. Teigen   
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it become the aim of the Norwegian Synod from now on to 
care better for the Christian education of the children.

A half-mile north of the church and the school house a 
beautiful, impressive parsonage is being built this summer. 
During the erection of the house, the pastor is living in the 
barn building. Here he entertained guests during the Synod 
meeting. Members of the congregation, as a rule, have large 
and comfortable homes with corresponding hospitality—
and genuine, old Norwegian hospitality. Here the Synod 
people enjoyed themselves during the meeting and had it 
good.

The meeting was opened Friday 
forenoon with a worship service. 
Chairman Harstad preached on 
Genesis 12:1–3. Pastor Ingebrit-
son officiated at the altar service. It 
was later decided that the sermon 
be printed in the synodical report. 
After the service the chairman ap-
pointed a temporary Credentials 
Committee, wished all a sincere 

welcome, and prayed for God’s blessing on the meeting and 
its business dealings.

The noon meal was served in the school house by the 
church. For this meal 25¢ was paid and the income was giv-
en to the mission treasury. This occurred every day during 
the meeting and proved to be a fortunate arrangement. It 
gave a good opportunity to renew old acquaintances and 
created new ones; it was relatively easy to look for those 
with whom one wished to talk—and it provided income for 
the mission treasury.

Friday afternoon the meeting was continued in the tent. The 
session was opened with devotions by Pastor E. Hansen. 
The time for the sessions was decided: 10:00 a.m. –12:30 
p.m. and 2:00–4:30 p.m. Chairman Harstad read his report. 
Some committees were set up. Then they proceeded to a 
doctrinal discussion, led by Pastor L. P. Jensen. The theme 
was “Man’s Spiritual Condition before Quickening or Re-
generation.” The discussions were lively and powerful and 

were listened to with great interest 
by the growing assembly. Many had 
come from long distances. There 
were visitors from the states of 
Washington, North Dakota, Minne-
sota, Illinois, and Iowa. Many who 
could not be present sent greetings, 
some in the form of contributions 
of money, and wished God’s rich 
blessing upon the meeting. 

Saturday forenoon a meeting was held in the church. Since 
the church is located in Iowa, the English language was 
used. Rev. H. Steger, from Fairbanks, Iowa, led the devo-
tions. The program committee reported and the session was 
used for consideration of its recommendation. The noon 
meal was served by the Ladies’ Aid from Lake Mills, Iowa.

The afternoon session in the tent was divided between busi-
ness matters and continued doctrinal discussion on the topic 
already begun.

A worship service was held Sunday 
in the tent at 10:30 with Norwegian 
sermon by Pastor Holden M. Olsen, 
from Madison, Wisconsin, and En-
glish sermon by Pastor H. Steger, 
Fairbanks, Iowa. A large gathering 
had shown up in spite of threatening 
rain from the morning on. An offer-
ing was taken for Home Missions, 
amounting to $203.61. Through 
additional donations which were contributed later, this was 
increased to $433.61. The ladies from the Silver Lake and 
Lime Creek congregations served the noon meal. All were 
well fed, and satisfaction, enjoyment and happiness charac-
terized the gathering.

At 3 o’clock Sunday afternoon there was rehearsal in the 
church of a rather large mixed choir from the surrounding 
congregations—the last joint rehearsal and preparation for 
the concert Sunday evening. Pastor H. Ingebritson direct-
ed. Since 1907, a choral union convention has been held 
every year in the Albert Lea Circuit of the Norwegian Syn-
od—in which the choirs of the congregations have taken an 
eager and willing part. Prof. J. Dahle has as a rule swung 
the baton during these concerts. After the “tornado” which 
passed over the church the last year—which also hit Albert 
Lea Circuit—there are not many singers who remain. Many 
were pulled up and carried away by the storm. Thus also the 
tent [organization] which belonged to the Society. But the 
remaining members did not give up meeting. Under Pas-
tor Ingebritson’s energetic and capable leadership they sang 
for a full house of attentive and interested listeners both in 
the afternoon during the dress re-
hearsal and in the evening during 
the concert. Mrs. Mabel Braaten 
Leusmann, Albert Lea, Minnesota, 
and Pastor Holden M. Olsen, Mad-
ison, Wisconsin, served as soloists. 
During the concert Sunday evening 
Pastor George. O. Lillegard gave 
a lecture about “Religions of Chi-
na.” As the Norwegian Synod’s first 

Henry Ingebritson

Holden Olson

George O. Lillegard
L.P. Jenen
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China missionary, who has spent several years in the mis-
sion work in China, he could speak from experience and 
first-hand knowledge. The assembly also listened with at-
tention even if  the lightning and thunder in the distance was 
promising rain. The rain also came before the concert was 
over, but those who had driven far came in “Ford touring 
cars” and harbored no anxieties for the trip home in rain, 
mud and darkness. All arrived home safely.

The program for the concert:

1. Jeg løfter mine øine op.  [I lift my eyes / Psalm 121] 
2. Psalm 126.
3. Incline Thine ear.
4. Solo: Turn ye even to me with all your heart. Mrs. 
Leusmann.
5. a) Kirken den er et gammelt hus. [Built on the Rock 
the Church doth stand*]
    b) Hvo ikkun lader Herren raade. [If Thou but Suffer 
God to Guide Thee]. 
6. Seek ye the Lord.
7. Ønsker Jerusalem lykke [Pray for the Peace of Jerusa-
lem, Psalm 122:6]
8. Synger for Herren en ny sang. [Sing to the Lord a 
New Song, Psalm 96*]

**Editor’s note: Some of these musical numbers were likely 
selected from Jubilate: kirkelige sange for blandet kor, John 
Dahle, ed., Decorah, Iowa: Lutheran Publishing House, 
1908.

After Sunday’s refreshing evangelical breeze in speeches 
and song, they assembled again with new spiritual powers 

for continued work Monday morning. The session was held 
in the tent and was opened as usual with devotions. Reports 
were heard and committees set up. Then the following com-
mittee recommendation was dealt with point by point and 
unanimously approved: 

We, members present of the Synod for the Norwegian 
Evangelical Lutheran Church of America, ministers, 
delegates of congregations and members of congrega-
tions, join together for the purpose of continuing the 
work of the Synod on the old basis and according to the 
old principles. We therefore recommend for consider-
ation of congregations and acceptance:

1. The name of this organization shall be the “Norwegian 
Synod of the American Evangelical Lutheran Church,” 
[The report gives the name in both English and Norwe-
gian].

2. The only source and rule of doctrine is the Word of 
God as revealed in the canonical books of the Old and 
New Testaments.

3. The Synod adopts as its confession the Symbolical 
Books, or confessional writings, of the Lutheran Church, 
because these give a pure and unaltered presentation of 
the doctrine contained in God’s Word.

4. We elect a committee of three to propose the neces-
sary changes in the old constitution of the Synod.  The 
committees report shall be published as soon as possible, 
in order that the congregations so wishing may consider 
and adopt it, the committee’s report to be presented for 
final adoption at the next annual meeting of the Synod. 

Friday, July 11 [sic], 1918
The Norwegian Synod’s Annual Meeting

(By Amerika’s Reporter)
Part II (Continued from the previous issue)

5. We elect the following officers for one year: Chair-
man, vice-chairman, secretary, treasurer, two auditors, 
a missions committee and a credentials committee, each 
with three members.

6. Next year a synod meeting is to be held, to which del-
egates from congregations that wish to join, pastors, and 
individual persons who want to be along to promote the 
work of the old Norwegian Synod are invited.

With hearts full of joy and thanks to God for the mutual love 
and unity of the spirit which so clearly was evident during 
the session’s proceedings, the session was concluded with 

1917 pastors Some of the pastors present at Lime Creek:
 Rear: L. S. Guttebo, A. J. Torgerson, Christian Anderson 
(standing) J. E. Thoen, H. Steger (visiting Missouri Synod 

pastor), Holden Olson, Bjug Harstad.
Front: C. N. Petersen, H. Ingebritson, J. A. Moldstad, 

L. P Jensen, G. P. Nesseth. 
Not pictured: Emil Hansen and George Lillegard.
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singing of a hymn, Scripture reading, and prayer.

The noon meal was by women from Pastor E. Hansen’s call 
[Scarville and Center] and an especially enjoyable noon-
time was spent on the lawn by the church in the shade of the 
mighty oak trees, which adorn the church yard. There was a 
little distraction when Pastor Malmin showed up. He came 
to gather news for Lutheraneren, the Norwegian Lutheran 
Church’s official organ, of which he is one of the editors. 
Currently he is living in Scarville and serves that part of 
Pastor Hansen’s congrega-
tion, which under President 
H. C. Holm’s leadership 
dismissed Pastor E. Hansen. 
That this dismissal, or re-
moval from office, happened 
without scriptural basis, 
does not seem to disturb Pas-
tor Malmin. By serving them 
with the Word and the Sac-
raments he is approving their 
action and has equal guilt with them. “They proceed from 
evil to evil, and they know not me, saith the Lord.” Jer. 9:3.

Monday afternoon was continued (in the tent) with a discus-
sions of a doctrine paper by Pastor L. P. Jensen. The tent was 
almost full of devout listeners, and several took part in the 
discussions. The discussions will be printed in the Synodical 
Report, which can be ordered from Pastor C. N. Peterson, 
1111 25th Ave. N. Minneapolis, Minn., or from one of the 
Synod’s pastors. At the beginning of the session it was stated 
by the chairman and vice-chairman that during the noontime 
they had received quite large contributions to the Synod’s 
treasury from thankful, truth-loving members of the Syn-
od, who in this way wanted to evidence their thanks to God 
for the results reached at the forenoon meeting. J. A. Førde 
and wife had given $50.00, and Pastor Moldstad promised 
to contribute $50.00; N. O. Roalkvam $25.00; H. S. Hanson 
$25.00; A. O. Stalheim $50.00. Several gave $10.00 and still 
others $5.00. Since Pastor Steger had to leave the meeting, 

he expressed thanks for good companionship and wished 
God’s blessing over the reorganized Norwegian Synod.

Monday evening there again was a concert held in the 
church, which again was full of listeners. It was Lime Creek 
congregation’s two church choirs, one from the country and 
one from Lake Mills, which jointly sang, “The Holy City.” 
Rev. H. A. Koening from Webster City, Ia., and Mrs. Mabel 
Braaten Leushman [sic] from Albert Lea, Minn., served as 
soloists. Both the choir and soloists carried out their parts 

especially well, and it was 
a true joy and soul-refresh-
ing comfort to listen to the 
beautiful harmony. Pastor 
Ingebritson deserves appre-
ciation of the Synod for the 
splendid musical entertain-
ment during the meeting, as 
well as also the members of 
the choirs.

Tuesday forenoon the meet-
ing was continued in the church building. It had rained 
during the night, so the roads were muddy and heavy. The 
consequence was that some came late to the meeting, but 
they came and filled the church. The Order of the Day was 
business matters and the discussions were carried on in the 
English language. A recommendation from the Credentials 
Committee was acted upon. There was a fairly lively dis-
cussion about the position of editor for Tidende. One group 
thought it was best to have just one editor; others thought 
that they ought to choose two or three with the one as edi-
tor-in-chief. The outcome was one editor, who also shall be 
business manager for the coming year. It was decided that 
Luthersk Tidende be published weekly and that the word 
“Evangelical” be added to the name, so it is called Evange-
lisk Luthersk Tidende.

Tuesday afternoon the meeting was continued in the church. 
After approval of a “loyality resolution” [loyalitets-resolu-

Officers elected at 1918 Convention:

Bjug Harstad
President

J.A. Moldstad
Vice-President

C.N. Petersen
Secretary

A.J. Torgerson
Treasurer
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tion], they proceeded to election of officers for the com-
ing year. The following were elected: chairman, Pastor B. 
Harstad; vice-chairman, Pastor J. A. Moldstad; secretary, 
Pastor C. N. Peterson; treasurer, Pastor A. J. Torgerson; 
auditors: E. K. Tyssen and Pastor Chr. Anderson and L. 
G. Mellem; subcommittee for the West Coast: Pastor B. 
Harstad, T. C. Saetra and E. B. Ellingson; Credentials Com-
mittee: Prof. J. E. Thoen, Pastor Holden M. Olsen and E. B. 
Ellingson; Editor, Pastor C. N. Peterson; rail road secretary, 
Pastor Chr. Anderson; delegate to the Synodical Conference 
meeting, Pastor Holden M. Olsen, alternate, Pastor J. A. 
Moldstad; Constitution Committee: Pastors A. J. Torgerson, 
E. Hansen and M. K. Bleken. They agreed to conclude this 
Synod meeting Wednesday evening at 4:30. Tuesday eve-
ning there was a worship service in the church with Com-
munion. Chairman Harstad gave the sermon. Prof. J. E. 
Thoen spoke in English about “Christian Education.” It was 
decided that his lecture be printed in the synodical report.

Wednesday morning the meeting was continued in the tent. 
The Resolutions committee reported. The recommendation 
was approved by unanimous standing vote. It reads: “During 
the previous year it has pleased God in His gracious wis-
dom to call away from this life our faithful brothers, Pastors 
O. T. Lee, F. A. Møller and S. Svennungson. We miss them 
deeply and share sincerely with their survivors in their great 
sorrow, but bow before God’s will, thank Him for His great 
goodness and grace toward these servants of His and for all 
He has accomplished through them as His instruments, and 
we ask Him to comfort and strengthen the dear survivors 
and bless the memory and work of these brothers for them 
and us.” The meeting then continued with doctrinal discus-
sion, “The Teaching of Scripture concerning the Unity of 
the Spirit and the Warning against Unionism,” which was 
led by Pastor B. Harstad. 

Wednesday afternoon the meeting was held in the church. 
The following resolution was approved unanimously: “Pas-
tors of the Synod are encouraged, if possible, to come to-
gether in larger and smaller pastoral conferences in order 
by mutual instruction and admonition to strengthen one 
another in purity of doctrine and unity, promote the devel-
opment of Christian life and in general to enable each other 
for the office.” It was also resolved that; “The Synod holds 
the Credentials Committee responsible for publishing of our 
publications, and authorizes them to arrange for incomes 
and expenses according to their best judgment—such that 
there is no debt incurred.” The rest of the session was used 
for discussions of doctrine.

At the conclusion of the session Chairman Harstad thanked 
the pastor and congregation for hospitality shown and the 
entertainment. Pastor Ingebritson for himself and on the 
congregation’s behalf expressed thanks for the visit, and ex-
pressed the hope that they could again get to experience the 
joy of having the Synod gathered in the midst of the congre-
gation. The closing devotion was led by Pastor J. A. Mold-
stad. The meeting was truly enjoyable, rich in doctrine and 
edifying. The great gathering of knowledge-rich laymen, 
young as well as old, shows that the seed of biblical truths 
of faith sown and cared for by the old leaders of faith in the 
Synod is still sprouting and producing a fruitful growth in 
spite of the newer seed of unionism’s fruitful weeds. The se-
riousness and determination which characterized the meet-
ing bodes well for the future, and it shall indeed show that 
the remnant, which holds fast to the Evangelical truths and 
free-church principles preserved by the Norwegian Synod, 
have viability and courage of faith and strength to safeguard 
and preserve for the coming generations the inheritance 
from the fathers. Let us with diligence and watchfulness 
scatter the seed and water it, and God shall give growth.



AMERIKA AND ITS EDITOR 

The editor of the Nor-
wegian- language 
weekly newspaper 
Amerika, Ramus B. 
Anderson (1846-
1933), was a contro-

versial figure among 
Norwegian-Ameri-

cans. He was born in 
Dane County, Wisconsin 

to parents who were Quaker 
emigrants from Norway in 1836. 

Following the death of his father, Rasmus was baptized and 
later confirmed by Pastor A.C. Preus at Koshkonong. Upon 
the urging of Pastor J.A. Ottesen, he was enrolled among 
the first students at Luther College but expelled four years 
later for leading a student mutiny. He was later 
given a degree and listed among those in the first 
graduating class. Becoming an instructor at the 
University of Wisconsin, he was instrumental 
in establishing the Department of Scandinavian 
Studies. During these years he published more 
than a dozen books. He served as ambassador to 
Denmark (1885-89). 

From 1898–1922 he was the editor and publisher 
of Amerika which was a weekly Norwegian-lan-
guage newspaper issued from Madison, Wis-
consin. Here he made violent charges against 
Norwegian-American churchmen, teachers, 
newspapers, and fraternal organizations. Be-
cause of these conservative views in both poli-
tics and religion, he was spurned by many. 

He maintained close ties to the Norwegian Syn-
od. His sister, Dina, married the Rev. T. A. Torg-
erson of Somber, Iowa and if he had not been ex-
pelled from Luther College would have entered 
the seminary to become a pastor in the Norwe-
gian Synod. Upon his return from Denmark, he 
joined Our Saviour’s Lutheran Church in Mad-
ison, Wisconsin (although he didn’t attend any 
church after 1903). Among the assistant editors 
of Amerika were both John A. Moldstad and the 
eldest daughter of Prof. Laur. Larsen. 

Before the time of the proposed merger of Norwegian Lu-
theran synods, the newspaper Amerika welcomed articles 
from the minority. He wrote, “If this smaller minority can 
make use of Amerika, I shall be glad. I do not understand 
why the paper is not used more than it is since all the other 
papers have been closed.” The Rev. C.N. Petersen declined 
his request to serve as the religious editor, but the newspaper 
continued to publish articles supporting the minority. This 
created such a loss of subscriptions that the editor hoped the 
minority could promote the distribution of the paper. R. B. 
Anderson even said, “ I would have it clearly understood 
that I cannot compromise with Opgjør.…The minority must 
stand firm as a rock, however small it may become.” In 1918, 
he sent a reporter to the Norwegian Synod’s reorganization 
convention at Lime Creek, Iowa. The account is translated 
and reprinted in this issue of Oak Leaves.

By Craig Ferkenstand
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AMERIKA AND ITS EDITOR 
ACORNS FROM THE ELS ARCHIVES

GOD HAS BEEN KIND
A Historical Sketch of the Norwegian synod

By Norman A. Madson, Sr.

This article was written by Pastor Madson in 1944 to describe to the Slovak Ev. Lutheran Church 
the history and culture of the little Norwegian Synod. The Slovak Synod and Norwegian Synod 

were in fellowship together in the Synodical Conference. In 1944, our synod was then known as the 
Norwegian Synod, but in 1953 the name was changed to the current Evangelical Lutheran Synod.

At the Synodical Conference in Cleveland, 
Ohio, August 1–4, [1944], we had the plea-
sure of meeting THE LUTHERAN BEA-
CON’S Editor, the Rev. S. Mazak, and we 
promised him that we would write a brief 
article for the official organ of the Slovak 
Evangelical Lutheran Church to acquaint 
its readers with that body with which they 
are in fellowship in the Synodical Confer-
ence. In short, we are to give answer to the 
question: “What is the Norwegian Synod?”

It is not a large body, being comprised of 
approximately fifty pastors and professors. 
There are sixty-eight congregations com-
prising the Synod, scattered all the way 
from Boston, Mass., to Tacoma, Wash. 
But its main strength is centered in the Middle West—Illi-
nois, Michigan, Wisconsin, Iowa, North Dakota, and South 
Dakota. It maintains its own institution of higher learning 
(Bethany Lutheran College, Mankato, Minn.), which, re-
markably enough, now has the highest enrollment in its his-
tory—145 students— many of whom are preparing for the 
ministry. Bethany is a co-educational institution, at which 
also students from the Slovak Ev. Lutheran Church have 
been enrolled. Here is also found the Lutheran Synod Book 
Company. The Synod publishes a biweekly church paper in 
the English language, The Lutheran Sentinel, and another 
biweekly in the Norwegian language, Evangelisk Luthersk 
Tidende.

While it is commonly known as the Norwe-
gian Synod, its official name is “The Nor-
wegian Synod of the American Evangelical 
Lutheran Church.” But how did it come into 
being? That is rather a long story, and as this 
is to be but a brief sketch, we shall merely 
recount facts in its 91-year history.

From the Land of the Vikings. There had 
been immigration from the land of the Vi-
kings in considerable numbers as early as 
1825. But it was not until the middle of the 
last century that well-ordered church work 
was begun among the  immigrated Norwe-
gians in America. Practically all of them 
came from the Norwegian State Church in 
their homeland, and that was, of course, Lu-

theran. While some work had been done in the so-called Fox 
River Settlement in Northern Illinois in the later forties, it 
was not until 1853 that the Norwegian Synod was organized 
at Koshkonong, Wis., a short distance southeast of Madison. 
But divine services had been conducted there by one of our 
pastors just a century ago, under the mighty oaks, practically 
a stone’s throw from our present West Koshkonong church. 
It was to commemorate that event that our Synod met this 
year in June at the latter church.

Pastors Must be Trained. So great was the influx of Nor-
wegian immigrants at this time and in the two following de-
cades, that it soon became apparent that their spiritual needs 
could not be cared for by the few pastors who had come 

Theodore G. Gullixson Archivist
Evangelical Lutheran Synod Archives 
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from Norway and that pastors would have to be trained in 
this country. It was therefore resolved at the synodical con-
vention of 1853 to elect two men who were to visit the in-
stitutions of those Lutheran bodies which already had begun 
the training of pastors here with the view to making use of 
one of their seminaries for the time being. The men cho-
sen for this task were the Rev. J.A. Ottesen and the Rev. N. 
Brandt. After having visited the institutions of the Missouri 
Synod (at St. Louis, Mo.), the Buffalo Synod (at Buffalo, 
N.Y.), and the Ohio Synod (at Springfield, Ohio), these men 
reported back to their own Synod at its 1857 convention, 
that they had found their true brethren in the faith among the 
Saxons under the leadership of Dr. Walther in St. Louis, and 
they recommended that their young men be sent to Concor-
dia Seminary for their ministerial training. This report was 
enthusiastically adopted by a unanimous vote. And thus be-
gan our close relationship with the Missouri Synod and (in 
1872) with the Synodical Conference.

Luther College Founded. For more than two decades the 
Norwegian Synod sent its theological students to St. Louis 
for their training. The Rev. Laur. Larsen was chosen to repre-
sent the Synod on the theological faculty at Saint Louis. But 
when in 1861, the Synod resolved to begin its own pre-theo-
logical school, the Rev. Laur. Larsen was chosen to head this 
institution, which later became known as Luther College. 
That college, havin its humble beginnings in a parsonage at 
Half Way Creek (near LaCrosse), Wis., was later removed 
to Decorah, Iowa. Here not only theological students were 
trained, but parochial school teachers as well. For the Nor-
wegian Synod had learned to 
see the blessed influence of 
the proper indoctrination of 
its youth in congregational 
schools. And it is significant 
that while hundreds of con-
gregations from this origi-
nal Norwegian Synod went 
into the questionable merger 
known as the Norwegian Lu-
theran Church in America in 
1917, not a single congrega-
tional school is any more to 
be found, our present Synod 
maintains a proportionately 
large number of them. It still 
believes in the sacredness 
of the divine command and 
promise: “And all thy chil-
dren shall be taught of the 
Lord; and great shall be the 

peace of thy children” Isa. 54:13.

“Our Answer Is: NO.” When, in the seventies, the anti-Mis-
sourian controversy arose under the leadership of Prof. F.A. 
Schmidt, a man whom the Norwegians had gotten from the 
Missouri Synod, but who now accused the Missouri Synod 
of Calvinism and other serious errors, the Norwegian Synod 
was torn asunder by the strife, over a third of its membership 
going with Professor Schmidt when the “Anti-Missourian 
Brotherhood” was organized in 1887. Professor Schmidt 
had contended that “salvation in a certain sense does not de-
pend on God alone.” To this error the Rev. Vilhelm Koren 
of the Norwegian Synod, in his essay before that body in 
1887, had given an answer: “Does the Confession of the Lu-
theran Church Teach That Any Man Before His Conversion 
Has the Ability to Decide in Favor of Grace? Our Answer 
is ‘NO.’” And that is still the chief point of difference sepa-
rating the Norwegian Synod from the Norwegian Lutheran 
Church in America.

The Madison Settlement. In 1890 the Anti-Missourian 
Brotherhood merged with the Norwegian element of the 
Augustana Synod and the Norwegian element in the Nor-
wegian–Danish Conference, forming the United Lutheran 
Church. For well-nigh three decades this merger body con-
tinued to accuse the Norwegian Synod and its Missourian 
brethren of Calvinism. But in 1917, after many preliminary 
negotiations, the greater part of the Norwegian Synod con-
sented to the so-called “Madison Settlement,” in which the 
synergistic leaven is contained when it speaks of “man’s 

feeling of responsibility over 
against the acceptance of 
grace.” On the basis of that 
“Madison Settlement” the 
Norwegian Lutheran Church, 
the Hauge Synod (a more 
or less revivalistic group of 
Norwegians), and the great 
majority of the Norwegian 
Synod were merged into the 
present “Norwegian Lutheran 
Church in America.” It was 
then that a small minority of 
pastors and congregations of 
the Norwegian Synod refused 
to accept this synergistic doc-
trine, but remained aloof, 
holding steadfast to the Scrip-
ture-true confession regard-
ing God’s Eternal Election as 
presented in the 11th Article 
of the Formula of Concord, 

Photo of the first main building of Luther College, dedicated on 
Oct. 14, 1865 thanks to the fundraising of H. A. Preus.

(photo from luthercollegehistory.org)



11

Thorough Declaration.

“Beware of Joining Hands.” On account of its refusal to 
join this large merger of Norwegians (for the Synod was re-
organized in 1918 at Lime Creek, Iowa), it has had to bear 
the taunts of former friends as well as foes. “Separatistic,” 
“narrow-minded,” “bigoted,” and “hypercritical” are some 
of the opprobrious names heaped upon it. But it has not per-
mitted these taunts to make it deviate from its firm confes-
sional stand. With the Book of Concord it confesses: “It is, 
in truth, no easy matter to undertake to separate from so 
many people and to teach a different doctrine; but there is 
God’s command instructing every one to beware of joining 
hands with those who teach error.”

The Bible Above All Else. And what, after all, are the taunts 
of men as compared with the everlasting truth of God? The 
Norwegian Synod has never had occasion to regret its insis-
tence on purity of doctrine. God has indeed been kind to the 
Norwegian Synod and has signally blessed its faithfulness. 
While our Synod cannot boast of any large congregations 
and awesome cathedrals, it does possess in all its purity 
God’s holy Word and Luther’s doctrine pure. On its banner 
stands the inscription GEGRAPTAI (it is written), and it will 

not surrender an iota of that “more sure word of prophecy,” 
no matter what may be promised it by way of numbers and 
prestige if it but deviate therefrom.

The Norwegian Synod insists with Luther that the Bible is a 
clear book, which the average man, concerned about life’s 
greatest question (the salvation of his immortal soul), shall 
be able to understand. In the words of its now sainted presi-
dent, Vilhelm Koren, it still confesses: “According to God’s 
Word we have reason to be certain that many an unschooled 
and by the world despised man and woman is come farther 
in the knowledge of God and His will than have the vast ma-
jority of the most learned pastors and professors. To all of us 
Jesus has said: ‘Except ye be converted, and become as little 
children, ye shall not enter into the kingdom of heaven’.”

Present Officers. The present officers of our Synod are: 
President, the Rev. Norman A. Madson, Princeton, Minn.; 
Vice-President, the Rev. Adolph M. Harstad, Madison, Wis.; 
Secretary, the Rev. George O. Lillegard, Boston, Mass.; and 
Treasurer, the Rev. Martin Galstad, Northwood, Iowa.
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